Developing a Structured Implementation Plan: Transitioning to a Blended Learning Model for Electronic Medical Record Education

Jennifer M. Van Autreve,

Bradley University

A Directed Scholarly Project Submitted to the

Department of Nursing

in the Graduate School of

Bradley University in

partial fulfillment of

the requirements for the

Degree of Doctor of Nursing Practice.

Peoria, Illinois

Abstract

Online and blended learning is increasingly being utilized to educate healthcare staff on electronic medical record documentation. The implementation of online learning brings challenges to nurse educators and other leaders who have not been responsible for implementing and validating this type of education previously. With Rosabeth Moss Kanter's theory of structural empowerment as a framework, this project developed a structure to guide nursing staff after the implementation of a blended learning model for EPIC documentation in their organization. This project attempted to alleviate the stressors felt by nursing educators, preceptors, and orientees by providing education, tools, and support. After the implementation began, an unplanned intervention was added that provided open learning labs for EPIC support to the staff of the organization. After the pilot period, a survey was sent to nurse educators, preceptors, and orientees to gather their qualitative feedback and perceptions regarding the blended learning model. A low level of survey responses limited the results of the project. Qualitative feedback received through interviewing nursing educators and orientees revealed that the organizations goal of having nurse orientees work on their online education throughout orientation in the inpatient units was not being implemented as intended. Nurse orientees did not feel they had time to step away from patient care to review online education. This information is of value because it can help education leaders develop a more feasible plan for EPIC education dissemination to ensure that the education policy reflects the actual practice occurring in the inpatient nursing units.

Table of Contents

| Developing a Structured Implementation Plan: Transitioning to a Blended Learning N Electronic Medical Record Education | |
|--|----|
| Chapter I: Introduction | |
| Background and Significance | |
| Needs Assessment | |
| Problem Statement | |
| Project Aim | |
| Clinical Question | |
| Congruence with Organizational Strategic Plan | |
| Synthesis of Evidence | |
| Theoretical Framework | |
| Chapter II: Methodology | |
| Project Design | |
| Setting | |
| Population | |
| Tools | |
| Project Plan | |
| Data Analysis | |
| Institutional Review Board | |
| Chapter III: Organizational Assessment and Cost Effectiveness Analysis | 29 |
| Organization Assessment | |
| Cost Factors | 30 |
| Chapter IV: Results | 30 |
| Analysis of Implementation Process | 30 |
| Analysis of Project Outcome Data | 32 |
| Chapter V: Discussion | |
| Findings | 34 |
| Limitations or Deviations | 36 |
| Implications | 37 |
| Chapter VI: Conclusion | 39 |
| Value of the Project | 39 |

| DNP Essentials | 40 |
|---|----|
| Plan for Dissemination | 41 |
| Attainment of Personal and Professional Goals | 41 |
| References | 43 |
| Appendices | 47 |

Developing a Structured Implementation Plan: Transitioning to a Blended Learning Model for Electronic Medical Record Education

Chapter I: Introduction

A large integrated health system headquartered in Central Illinois had recently transitioned from providing two days of in seat training for new inpatient nurses on EPIC, the organizations electronic medical record (EMR) documentation platform, to a one day in seat EPIC course. The material previously covered in the second day of EPIC training would now be incorporated into online modules to be assigned to nurses to complete throughout their nursing orientation. Each new inpatient nurse was assigned the registered nurse (RN) 200 course via Canvas, an online learning platform. The utilization of Canvas courses for education of inpatient staff is new at this organization. At the time of this transition, there was no structure in place for the nursing educators, preceptors, or the EPIC credentialed trainers (CTs) to follow in regard to implementing these new learning modules into nursing orientation. Providing nursing educators, preceptors, and EPIC CTs in the organization structure and support throughout the transition would help ensure that the implementation was successful. Structural power in an organization in the form of resources, information, and support has been found to be an organization antecedent of employee engagement (Garcia, Fernandez, & Martinez, 2015).

Background and Significance

This large healthcare system, headquartered in Peoria, Illinois, consists of thirteen hospitals with 1,874 acute care beds between them. The flagship hospital, a Midwest level one trauma center, is the largest of these hospitals. This Midwest hospital has 629 licensed beds and employs 5,376 employees (OSF Healthcare, 2019). Prior to this transition, newly hired inpatient nurses across this entire healthcare system, traveled to the flagship Midwest hospital to complete

two eight hour days of EPIC training on the EMR. EPIC inpatient nurse classes are taught by a credentialed EPIC trainer. Employees from the informatics team are credentialed in EPIC applications through the organizations credentialing process.

In fiscal year 2017, there were approximately 721 inpatient nurses hired across this healthcare system that required inpatient EPIC documentation training. EPIC classes for inpatient nurses were scheduled biweekly with classes limited to twenty nurses per classroom. Depending on the number of new nurses hired in a specific pay period, two separate classrooms running simultaneously were often required. This equated to thirty-two hours of training every two weeks. In addition to paying for new nurses to attend the sixteen hours of EPIC training, this healthcare system paid for the mileage accrued to and from class at the flagship Midwest hospital for the nurses who were hired to work in other locations within the organization. Decreasing the EPIC training to one eight hour day could be a significant cost savings measure for this integrated health system.

Since the transition to the blended learning model, new inpatient nurses hired across this healthcare system travel to the flagship Midwest hospital for only one day of EPIC training and then are assigned the RN 200 online course by an EPIC CT. One of the organizations goals of transitioning to this blended learning model is for nurses to retain more of their EPIC training by directly applying their new knowledge to real time patient documentation (D. Tilley, personal communication, October 17, 2018). To accomplish this, as nurses go through orientation in the inpatient unit, preceptors will have nurse orientees view specific online modules when the topic of one of the learning modules arises. This will allow the nurse orientees to review the EPIC education and specific documentation requirements when it is most pertinent. Examples of some of the online learning modules include: (a) blood administration; (b) use of physical restraints;

(c) admitting, transferring, and discharging of patients; and (d) documenting the patient's care plan and education.

Nursing preceptors from this healthcare system have not been responsible for providing formal EPIC education in the past. Having their orientees step away from the bedside to view the online modules is a foreign concept to preceptors whose goal has traditionally been to provide orientees with as much direct patient care experiences as possible during their orientation. An effective and smooth orientation process helps build nursing competence and skill and is important for the future success of the novice nurse (Wing, Regan & Spence, 2015).

In order to provide a successful orientation experience, nursing educators, preceptors and EPIC CTs need supported as their responsibilities and expectations have changed. At the time of the transition to the blended learning model, there was not a process or structure in place to support nursing educators, preceptors and EPIC CTs through the transition or to elicit their feedback and suggestions regarding the online modules.

Nurse educators at the flagship Midwest hospital are responsible for overseeing the orientation of new nurses hired to their units. They are charged with: (a) selecting the preceptors for each orientee; (b) assessing the orientees progress regularly throughout orientation; (c) providing unit specific education; and (d) ensuring that new nurses have completed all of the various education that is required to work in their department. Prior to the implementation of the blended learning model, the documentation of formal EPIC training and the assessment of nurse orientees' competence with EMR documentation, was not a responsibility of the nurse educators.

Due to the Canvas learning platform not being used by nursing educators before, adding the responsibility of verifying that the online EPIC modules have been completed successfully by nursing orientees has the potential to cause problems for nursing educators. Educators are already responsible for maintaining and completing several orientation checklists and competencies throughout orientation. Nursing orientation documentation is a permanent part of the nurse's regulatory file. When hospitals are surveyed by regulatory bodies, nursing educators may be asked to present any employee's regulatory file for review.

Having a complete and accurate regulatory file is a major responsibility for nurse educators. Errors in documenting a nurse's competency or incomplete documentation within a regulatory file can cause the organization to be penalized or lose certain accreditations. Providing nurse educators with the resources, education, tools and support structure needed to properly navigate the Canvas learning platform will assist them with organizing and tracking nurse orientees' required orientation checklists and competency assessments.

Needs Assessment

An analysis of the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats (SWOT) was completed to evaluate this organizations readiness for the implementation of a blended learning model. The SWOT analysis revealed the following strengths: (a) the education department at this healthcare system is highly motivated to provide effective online learning modules for new nurses; (b) the flagship Midwest hospital has an experienced nursing informatics staff to help with this transition; (c) administrative leaders within this healthcare system are very supportive of the transition to the blended learning model to support future online learning opportunities. Weaknesses identified include: (a) all new inpatient nurses will get the same online modules regardless of their specific unit and orientation schedule; (b) nursing preceptors may not be comfortable with online learning; (c) there will be variation in how the online modules are implemented between different nursing preceptors.

The following opportunities related to the success of this transition were identified: (a) nursing preceptors are no longer given monetary compensation while precepting; (b) in order to function as a nursing preceptor, nurses are now required to take an online preceptor course and quiz which has proven to be difficult for some preceptors to complete successfully; (c) nursing preceptors feel there is not a lot of incentive to precept anymore; (d) nursing educators already have multiple orientation checklists and competencies that they are responsible for keeping track of with each orientee, adding another checklist for the online EPIC modules will be difficult to maintain. Threats to the successful implementation of online learning modules include: (a) there is variation in nurses' knowledge of EPIC depending on past experience; (b) performing online modules throughout orientation will require self-discipline and time management; (c) nursing educators may decide to have nurse orientees view all of the online modules at the beginning of their orientation instead of throughout their orientation as intended. Overall it was determined that the leaders within the healthcare system are very supportive of the education team's implementation of online learning and are also supportive of developing a structure to support nursing educators and preceptors. The nursing informatics staff have the ability to support nursing educators and preceptors through this transition to help newly graduated nurses build competence with electronic documentation.

Problem Statement

Implementing this blended learning model without providing a support structure for the nursing educators, preceptors, and EPIC CTs may lead to preceptor frustration, EPIC documentation errors and increase staff turnover. If nurse orientees are not given the education they need to effectively navigate the EMR, it may increase the amount of time spent away from their patients, lead to errors in patient care, and could potentially cause the nurse to miss

regulatory documentation requirements. Nursing competence with the EMR significantly impacts the quality of care delivered, experience, and satisfaction of patients and their families. Transitioning to a blended learning model is ultimately placing additional responsibilities on nursing educators and preceptors that they are unfamiliar with. Without providing these individuals with support and structure during this transition, the success of this implementation will be compromised.

Project Aim

The aim of this project was to develop a structure for nursing educators, preceptors and EPIC CTs to guide them after the implementation of a blended learning model for EPIC documentation. To develop this structure, a team of EPIC CTs, nursing educators, nursing preceptors, and education scholars was formed to obtain insight into the potential barriers they perceive and their own attitudes regarding the successful implementation of the blended learning model.

The project objectives were:

- Create a communication channel between EPIC CTs and the nursing educators and preceptors to allow them to ask questions and provide feedback regarding the online EPIC modules.
- Create a standard feedback loop with expected timelines for those responsible to answer submitted questions/suggestions or correct errors recognized/modify processes.
- 3) Create a schedule for the nursing preceptors to follow that will help them evaluate their orientees progress of the online modules at regular intervals over the orientation

- period so that the EPIC module assignments are dispersed throughout the orientation and not completed all in the beginning or end of orientation.
- 4) Create a tool for the EPIC CTs to allow them to track nurse orientees and their progress regarding their EPIC modules throughout their orientation period.

Clinical Question

The primary question this project attempted to address is, how does a support structure during the implementation of a blended learning model for EPIC training compared to this implementation without a support structure in place, affect nursing preceptors' and nursing educators' attitudes, commitment level, and confidence regarding the blended learning model, over the course of a six-week orientation period?

Congruence with Organizational Strategic Plan

The strategic plan at this healthcare system has three facets; perform, grow, and innovate (OSF Healthcare, 2019). This project aligns with the innovation goals of this healthcare system, to design the future with breakthrough innovation, digital transformation and advanced analytics (OSF Healthcare, 2019). Improving the orientation process for new nurses with a blended learning model has the ability to positively affect employees' workforce commitment while increasing the operating margin which are two of this organizations key results for fiscal year 2019.

On the other hand, without support and structure in place during the implementation of the blended learning model, nursing, educators, preceptors, and EPIC CTs may become dissatisfied in their roles. This dissatisfaction could be reflected in the results of the annual staff opinion survey. The results of this annual survey are used to measure employees' workforce

commitment. The goal for fiscal year 2019 is a workforce commitment score in the 77th percentile (OSF Healthcare, 2019).

Empowering behaviors by leaders has been shown to impact the work environment and leads to positive work engagement (Cziraki & Laschinger, 2015). This project attempted to alleviate the stressors felt by nursing educators, preceptors and EPIC CTs surrounding the implementation of the blended learning model by providing education, tools, and support.

Offering this support during the transition to a blended learning model was provided to make the transition smoother and decrease negativity surrounding this change.

Synthesis of Evidence

To review the existing literature available on the topics of online and blended learning models, the Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature (CINAHL), Health Source, and Education Resources Information Center (ERIC) databases were searched. Searches used on these databases included; effectiveness of online education, blended learning models, flipped classrooms, and online learning in hospital orientation. The search on these databases yielded 214,532 articles related to online education. These articles were narrowed to include only articles pertinent to blended learning models in healthcare education. The results were narrowed further to include only research studies performed in the last five years that were published in the English language. The most recent studies performed on blended learning models in healthcare related fields that included abstracts were then reviewed further to exclude studies that used level four and level five levels of evidence. Randomized controlled trials (RCTs) that met the search criteria were preferred, this yielded four studies. Quasi-experimental studies that met search criteria were then selected, this yielded seven studies. Two level three systematic reviews that met the search criteria were selected based on the large number of articles reviewed by these

studies. Because adult learning principles vary significantly from childhood learning, results were also narrowed to focus on adult learning versus childhood learning. The technologies that make online learning possible have changed drastically in the past twenty years, therefore the more recent the study, the more relevant its findings will be to current online learning formats.

To review the existing literature available to reinforce the need for a support structure during periods of transition in healthcare, the Medline, CINAHL, OVID, PubMed, and Nursing Academic databases were searched. These databases were searched for the terms; Kanter's Empowerment Theory in nursing education and Kanter's Empowerment Theory in healthcare. These searches yielded 121 articles. Results were narrowed to include studies published in the last five years; in the English language. Kanter's Empowerment theory was first sited in 1993, many of the studies on this theory were performed greater than ten years ago. Of the remaining articles, seven were chosen based on content related to employee engagement, job satisfaction, and professional growth.

Appraisal of Evidence

Online learning. The review of literature provided evidence to support the effectiveness of online learning. Each study reviewed demonstrated that online education is at least equally as effective as traditional in-seat training. Four RCTs that were reviewed, examined the differences between participants who were randomized into groups of online learners and traditional classroom learners (Karvinen et al., 2017; Maloney et al., 2015; Steward, Mullinix, & Qiang, 2018; Stockwell, Stockwell, Cennamo, & Jiang, 2015). Stockwell, Stockwell, Cennamo, and Jiang (2015) found that students who were given a video assignment before attending a classroom lecture had better attendance and higher satisfaction with the course than students who were given a textbook assignment to complete before class. Additionally, students who were

given a video assignment had higher exam scores than the control group. This study supports the blended learning approach that is being implemented at this healthcare system.

Maloney et al., (2015) performed a level one RCT to determine if a blended learning method for evidence-based medicine training within a medical program would be more cost-effective than face-to-face learning. Medical students were randomized into groups who either received face-to-face teaching or a blended approach with classroom lecture, online aspects, and mobile learning. Students' competency was evaluated and their attitudes about the different teaching methods were obtained with a survey. The blended learning approach was found to be more cost-effective to operate compared to the face-to-face teaching method after its' third year of implementation (Maloney et al., 2015).

Another RCT that aimed to examine the effectiveness of online learning modules meant to improve physical activity education by oncology nurses found that the online learning intervention improved some parameters of the physical activity education but not the actual number of patients who were provided the education (Karvinen et al., 2017). A limitation found within this study was that the participants were already a highly motivated sample of nurses so they may not have represented oncology nurses as a whole. Identifying this limitation is helpful for this project because there will be variations in the motivation level of nursing preceptors which can alter the project effectiveness.

The review of literature examined seven level two studies (Luckie et al., 2018; McCall, Spencer, Owen, Roberts & Heneghan, 2018; Meredith et al., 2018; Mishra, Rani & Bhardwaj, 2017; Reis et al., 2013; Soffer & Nachmias, 2018; Telford & Senior, 2017). Three level two studies were carried out with a quasi-experimental method that involved pre and posttest surveys for students of online learning versus traditional learning (Luckie et al., 2018; Reis et al., 2013;

Soffer & Nachmias, 2018). Soffer & Nachmias (2018) compared three different face to face courses with three online courses with similar characteristics such as the same instructor and exams. Course completion, understanding of materials, student engagement and satisfaction were evaluated with a student survey. There was only a 39 percent survey response rate, but the findings did suggest that in many of the aspects evaluated, the online courses were as effective or more effective than the face to face courses (Soffer & Nachmias, 2018).

A theme identified in one level two study was that online learning was superior to in-seat training for acquiring new knowledge but not for becoming competent with a new skill (Luckie et al., 2018). Luckie et al., (2018), examined the effectiveness of online pediatric asthma management education for school personnel. This study found that online training effectively increased the knowledge of asthma first aid, however, students did not demonstrate effective asthma first aid skills. Only 29% of students were found to be competent to save the life of a child in an asthma emergency (Luckie et al., 2018). This finding will not impact this project because the online modules being implemented are not meant to teach nurses how to perform skills, only how to document their interventions in the EMR.

Three level three systematic reviews of previous research performed on online or blended learning were reviewed for this project. The results of these reviews were in-line with the level one and two studies that demonstrated that online education interventions were at least equal to traditional methods (McCall, Spencer, Owen, Roberts, & Heneghan, 2018; McCutcheon, Lohan, Traynor, & Martin, 2015; Wolf, 2018). Wolf (2018), reviewed 1294 articles to evaluate the use of web based video lectures in terms of the learners' outcomes and satisfaction. This review again demonstrated that web based lectures were equivalent or better than in person lectures (Wolf, 2018).

Structural empowerment. A positive work environment for nursing staff is essential to developing job satisfaction and reducing burnout (Hayes, Douglas & Bonner, 2014). Newly graduated nurses are more vulnerable to experiencing negative mental health symptoms in response to work related stress (Wing, Regan & Spence, 2015). Leaders in healthcare who create empowering cultures in the workplace are able to increase job satisfaction, which in turn lowers work related stress, (Eriksson & Engstrom, 2018; Hayes, Douglas & Bonner, 2014; Wing, Regan & Spence, 2015) retains nurses who are eligible for retirement, and attracts new nurses (Cziraki & Laschinger, 2015). This is evidenced in Magnet recognized facilities where nurse executives are successfully able to implement empowerment characteristics and processes (Underwood & Hayne, 2017). In addition to increasing job satisfaction, when nursing administrators use Kanter's theory in bedside nursing units, it provides nurses opportunities for professional growth (Duffield, Baldwin, Roche & Wise, 2014). When supportive structures are in place, nurses report that a sense of empowerment comes with their feelings of competence (Thuss, Babenko-Mould, Andrusyszyn & Laschinger, 2016).

Transitioning to a blended learning model will bring challenges but having the knowledge that the existing evidence proves that online learning is an effective teaching method will help support the rationale for the transition. This project aimed to provide nursing educators, preceptors, EPIC CTs, and nurse orientees with support and structure through the transition, to empower them, decrease the work related stress associated with the transition, and increase this healthcare system's chance of success with the blended learning model.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework guiding this project is Rosabeth Moss Kanter's theory of structural empowerment. This theory emphasizes the structure within an organization. Kanter's

theory describes the following conditions that must be present for empowerment to take place:

(a) the opportunity to learn and develop; (b) access to information; (c) access to support; (d) and access to resources (Larkin, Cierpial, Stack, Morrison, & Griffith, 2008). Kanter proposed that providing individuals with the tools, information, and support they need will benefit the organization by improving skills, increasing accountability, and allowing employees to find more meaning in their work (Larkin et al., 2008). Besides benefiting the organization by boosting productivity, improving empowerment in employees increases job satisfaction and trust within the employee (Larkin et al., 2008).

This project attempted to increase the empowerment of nurse educators, preceptors, and EPIC CTs during the period of transition within their organization to in turn increase their workforce commitment. Project interventions that aligned with the principles of Kanter's theory of structural empowerment include, (a) developing and providing educational resources to nurse educators, preceptors, and EPIC CTs; (b) providing nurse orientees direct access to EPIC experts; and (c) providing an ongoing communication loop to nurse educators, who are able to bring issues and questions identified in their units to the education team during monthly meetings. These interventions supported the empowerment of these employees according to Kanter's theory, by providing them with access to information, resources, and the opportunity to learn and develop (Larkin et al., 2008).

Chapter II: Methodology

Project Design

This project was a pilot study to test the success of the proposed support structure for nurse educators, preceptors, and EPIC CTs as their roles evolved with a blended learning model. If the organizations leadership determines that this project demonstrated that the proposed support structure empowered these employees, it can be replicated across other units of the flagship Midwest hospital as well as other hospitals within the organization. As the education for other disciplines is moving to an online format in the future, this support structure has the potential to be applied across different disciplines and EPIC applications.

Setting

This pilot took place in four med/surg inpatient units at the flagship Midwest hospital. This hospital is a level one trauma center in the Midwest with 629 licensed inpatient beds. These four units were chosen for the pilot because they are units that regularly hire newly graduated nurses. Some of the more specialized departments in this hospital require that nurses work in an acute care setting for at least one year prior to applying to their units. These four med/surg units have the same leadership model. Each unit has a nurse educator, nursing supervisor, manager, and director. Managers and directors may be responsible for multiple units, but educators and supervisors are specific to one unit. Nursing educators are thought of as the unit's clinical expert and they spend half of their hours working as staff in their departments with the other half of their hours devoted to staff education. The orientation process for these four med/surg units follows the same timeline and structure. Nursing orientation is six weeks long with most of the first week being spent off of the nursing unit in formal hospital orientation, one day of in-seat EPIC training, and a standardized nursing skills day. Every nurse orientee is assigned a primary

nursing preceptor by their nursing educator with which they spend the remaining five weeks of nursing orientation. Nurse orientees often have multiple secondary nursing preceptors depending on their primary preceptor's schedule.

Population

The size of the population included in the pilot was dependent on how many newly graduated inpatient nurses were hired at this flagship Midwest hospital during the pilot period. The goal was to include at least fifty nurse orientees and their primary preceptors in the pilot. Only newly graduated nurses were included in the study, experienced nurses who were hired were excluded due to their previous EPIC training and experience. There was a total of five newly graduated inpatient nurses hired into the four med/surg departments that received the additional EPIC CT support during the pilot period. Newly graduated nurses hired during the pilot period in each inpatient nursing unit of the flagship Midwest hospital, along with their nurse educators and preceptors, were included in the post pilot survey. The post pilot survey was distributed to a total of ninety-two individuals.

Tools

Post pilot survey. After the support structure was implemented on the inpatient med/surg units, preceptors who actively precepted during the pilot period, educators of units with newly graduated nurse orientees, and nurse orientees were asked to fill out a survey (see Appendix A). This survey attempted to identify whether or not the support structure was able to: (a) adequately prepare preceptors and educators for their new roles regarding EPIC training; (b) help preceptors and educators feel confident in their ability to incorporate EPIC training into patient care; and (c) create a feeling that the blended learning model for EPIC training will help nurse orientees retain their EPIC education. The survey questions were answered with a five point Likert scale with the

following response options (0) Disagree Strongly (1) Disagree Slightly (2) Neutral (3) Agree Slightly (4) Agree Strongly. There was an option for the respondent to mark questions as not applicable and an optional free text box to further explain their response to each question. This survey was developed specifically for this pilot study by the doctoral student.

To develop this survey, the doctoral student created questions that would assess whether the interventions of the project were of benefit to nurse educators, preceptors, and orientees. The interventions were as follows, (a) create a communication channel between EPIC CTs and the nursing orientees and preceptors; (b) create a feedback loop when issues arise; and (c) create a reference tool on paper to help track progress with the RN 200 modules that included a guideline for incorporating the modules into patient care. The goal for this survey was that the responses of all respondents would reflect that they understood the rationale for the blended learning model, felt that nurse orientees would retain their EPIC education better than the in-seat training method, and were able to help their nurse orientees incorporate pertinent RN 200 modules into patient care. At least 80 percent of all respondents are expected to respond with agree slightly or agree strongly to these three survey questions in order to validate the support that was supplied to every inpatient unit.

Respondents from the pilot units were expected to respond more positively that they received the right amount of support during this transition, were adequately prepared for their new responsibilities regarding EMR training, and had a way to voice their feedback, compared to the respondents from units that did not have the additional EPIC CT support intervention. At least 75 percent of respondents from the pilot group were expected to respond with agree slightly or agree strongly to these three survey questions in order to deem this pilot intervention successful.

EPIC CTs organize and record the details of their meetings with nurse orientees (see Appendix B). The plan was for the EPIC CTs to meet with each nurse orientee three times throughout their orientation. The goal for the timing of these meetings was to meet, (1) by the second week of orientation for the first meeting; (2) midway through the nurse's orientation; and (3) near the end of orientation. At the final meeting with the nurse orientee, the EPIC CTs planned to validate the nurse orientee's competence with EPIC documentation and confirm that she/he has passed the final exam of the RN 200 course. With the implementation of the blended learning model, a large portion of the EPIC CTs teaching requirements were eliminated. Meeting with nurse orientees throughout orientation provided the EPIC CTs with an opportunity to utilize their skills as EPIC content experts, while helping alleviate some of the work of the nurse educators and preceptors. This tool directly addressed the objective: create a tool for the EPIC CTs to allow them to track nurse orientees and their progress regarding their RN 200 modules throughout their orientation period.

Project Plan

Interventions/Support structure for all inpatient units at flagship Midwest hospital.

Paper toolkit. The implementation of the project interventions was scheduled to begin in July of 2019 and conclude in November of 2019 (see Appendix F). The first project intervention involved developing the paper toolkit for nurse orientees, preceptors, and educators to use to track the orientees' progress through the RN 200 course (see Appendix C). The paper toolkit was developed by the doctoral student to be used as a reference that could be kept in the orientation binder and accessed easily while working in the nursing unit. The objectives of this toolkit were to: (a) reinforce the reason for transitioning to the blended learning model for EPIC training; (b)

provide instructions on how to access the Canvas learning platform; (c) provide trouble shooting information and a contact list if experiencing technical problems; (d) provide real world examples of how to incorporate the RN 200 modules into patient care; and (e) provide a list of each module included in the RN 200 course.

The toolkit contains a table to track the progress of the course completion throughout orientation. The specific order of module completion was left up to the leadership and educator of each nursing unit and the preceptors and orientees themselves. The paper toolkit reemphasized the objectives of the RN 200 course, the course expectations, how to successfully complete the course, and provided additional EPIC resources available to nurses. This toolkit was created to be used as a reference for the nurse orientee and her/his preceptors only and was not intended to be a permanent part of the regulatory file.

The Canvas platform had not been used by nursing educators or preceptors prior to the implementation of the blended learning model. Several other learning platforms are used at this hospital, adding the Canvas platform without providing instructions that could be referenced on how to log in and find the RN 200 course could cause delays with accessing and completing the modules. There are several different modules/lessons within the RN 200 course, without providing a paper copy of the modules that could easily be referenced, could potentially make it difficult for nurse orientees and her/his preceptors to remember which modules were still needing completed. Reinforcing the rationale for the blended learning model and providing examples of how to incorporate the modules into patient care support the utilization of adult learning principles to guide the EPIC education which should increase retention of this education. This intervention directly addresses the objective: create a schedule for the nursing preceptors to follow that will help them evaluate their orientees progress of the online modules at

regular intervals over the orientation period so that the EPIC module assignments are dispersed throughout the orientation and not completed all in the beginning or end of orientation. The doctoral student's goal was to have this toolkit ready to disperse to inpatient nurse orientees by mid-September of 2019.

Updating the RN 200 course. The second project intervention involved updating the RN 200 course. Changes were necessary to make the RN 200 course in the Canvas online platform more user friendly by allowing the nurses to navigate through the different modules in their own preferred order while being able to track their progress and completion through the course visually. With the assistance of a clinical education program specialist and approval from the clinical documentation instructional designer of the organization, a new homepage was created within the RN 200 course that displayed each module individually as a hyperlink that would launch that individual lesson once selected.

An additional Canvas feature was activated that allowed nurses to mark sections of the course as completed as they progressed through the course so they could better visualize where they left off when they returned to the course. The paper toolkit created by the doctoral student, was added into the RN 200 course as a PDF attachment that could be viewed and printed if needed. The clinical documentation instructional designer used this updated course content for each monthly cohort of nurse orientees beginning in August of 2019. The changes to the RN 200 course and the addition of the paper toolkit were communicated to the inpatient EPIC CTs across the organization by the clinical documentation instructional designer.

In-seat EPIC curriculum. In addition to the changes made to the RN 200 course, the doctoral student also assisted the clinical documentation instructional designer with making changes to the curriculum of the in-seat EPIC class for inpatient nurses. This additional

information was added to help nurse orientees understand the rationale for the transition to the blended learning model, explain how the modules should be incorporated throughout their orientation into patient care when the module was pertinent, and help the nurse orientee understand that they would be responsible for communicating with their various preceptors to let them know when they needed time to complete modules throughout orientation. The in-seat EPIC class is a mandatory part of nursing orientation, because of this there was an expectation that 100 percent of new inpatient nurses received this lesson on the blended learning model.

Nursing preceptors were assigned a mandatory education course prior to the implementation of the blended learning model, however there was not a plan for educating the nurse orientees about the rationale for the blended learning model and the organizations expectations for how to best incorporate the RN 200 modules throughout orientation. It was identified that nurse orientees often have multiple preceptors, and there was a fear identified by nurse educators that the preceptors may find it hard to keep track of which RN 200 modules have been completed on days that the nurse orientee spent with different preceptors.

Making the nurse orientee responsible for keeping track of their RN 200 modules helps alleviate this issue and encourages the nurse orientee to be more engaged throughout their orientation to promote active learning. This intervention also addresses the objective listed above regarding a schedule for nursing preceptors by educating nurse orientees on the RN 200 modules so that they can help keep their own progress on track throughout their orientation. The doctoral student's goal was to have this additional lesson plan created and incorporated into the in-seat EPIC class for inpatient nurse orientees by mid-September of 2019.

Providing education and resources. The doctoral student presented education on the Canvas online learning platform to the inpatient clinical nurse educators at the monthly educator

meeting in August of 2019. The education presented covered the organizations transition to a blended learning model for EPIC training for inpatient nurses, information on how nurse orientees were to successfully complete the course in order to complete their EPIC training requirement of nursing orientation, and educator responsibilities with tracking their orientees course completion. The doctoral student distributed the paper toolkit to all educators electronically so that they could begin adding it to orientation binders. Educators were instructed to contact the doctoral student if they had questions about the new process of blended learning or needed assistance with the RN 200 course.

Communication channel. With the assistance of the manager of the education department of the flagship Midwest hospital, the topic of the RN 200 course was reviewed multiple times throughout the pilot period at the monthly informatics and nurse educator meetings. Reviewing this content at these meetings gave nurse educators the opportunity to address concerns or questions they had about the RN 200 modules. This provided a chance for the leaders from the hospital's education department to reinforce the correct way to incorporate the RN 200 modules into patient care and offered nurse educators an opportunity to discuss potential technical problems with the modules or specific content issues that were identified. This intervention also provided nurse educators with a feedback loop. This intervention directly addressed the objective: create a standard feedback loop with expected timelines for those responsible to answer submitted questions/suggestions or correct errors recognized/modify processes. The doctoral student's goal for this intervention was to have a discussion of the RN 200 modules added on the agenda of the informatics and educator monthly meetings beginning in September of 2019.

Additional interventions for the med/surg units included in the pilot. The doctoral student organized a meeting with the educators of the four med/surg nursing units chosen to receive additional EPIC CT support in August of 2019. The purpose of this meeting was to communicate the doctoral student's objectives during the pilot period, create a communication plan for when new orientees were hired into the pilot units, and obtain the educators' opinions of the transition to the blended learning model for EPIC education. Educators agreed to provide the doctoral student with the names of new nurses hired into their units along with the names of their primary preceptors and their orientation schedules and agreed to facilitate meetings between the doctoral student and nurse orientees while they were in orientation.

As the doctoral student was made aware of newly hired nurse orientees, their names and pertinent information was added to the CT EPIC Tracking Tool. The first meetings between the doctoral student and nurse orientees were arranged by the nurse educator of the unit where the orientee was hired. The doctoral student then communicated with the orientees directly to provide support and EPIC assistance.

The meetings between nurse orientees and EPIC CTs provided an opportunity for the EPIC CT to review the nurse orientee's progress with the RN 200 modules, help them with EPIC content questions or workflow concerns, and provided a feedback loop for the nurse orientees.

These meetings also provided nurse orientees with the ability to directly reach out to an EPIC expert when necessary. The EPIC CT verified that each nurse orientee had successfully completed each module and taken the final quiz with a passing grade.

Having the EPIC CT assess the nurses' competence with EPIC while they were still in orientation gave the EPIC CT the opportunity to provide additional EPIC education when needed to prevent documentation errors. This intervention directly addressed the objective: create a

communication channel between EPIC CTs and the nursing educators and preceptors to allow them to ask questions and provide feedback regarding the online EPIC modules. The doctoral student's goal was to have the meetings between EPIC CTs and nurse orientees begin by September 16th of 2019. The EPIC CTs used the tracking tool to record the orientees progress through the RN 200 modules as well as issues identified and brought forward by the nurse orientees and/or nurse preceptors.

Data collection. The survey questions developed by the doctoral student were used to create an online survey using SelectSurvey. The doctoral student worked with the organizations data analytics team to export and analyze the data from SelectSurvey. The electronic survey was anonymous, participants were not required to enter their name or any other identifying information. The survey did capture whether or not the respondent worked on one of the four med/surg units that received the additional EPIC CT support intervention during the pilot period.

Sustainability plan. The intervention related to providing a paper toolkit for nurse orientees regarding the RN 200 modules will be sustained by nurse educators and the flagship Midwest hospital's education department. Nurse educators are responsible for creating binders for each nurse hired into their department, this toolkit will remain a permanent reference in the inpatient nurse orientation binder. If the EPIC training for nurse orientees is changed in the future, the education department will be responsible for updating this toolkit and redistributing it to nurse educators.

The clinical documentation instructional designer for inpatient curriculum will be responsible for sustaining the lesson plan created for nurse orientees regarding the RN 200 modules. The instructional designer regularly reviews all lesson plans and EPIC training materials and makes updates as needed when there are EPIC upgrades or organizational changes.

The manager of the education department of the flagship Midwest hospital will sustain the communication channel with nurse educators. The manager of the education department is responsible for creating the monthly agenda for the nurse educator meetings and this allows the manager the ability to address any questions or concerns with the RN 200 modules at each monthly educator meeting. If unable to provide answers to the nurse educators, the manager of education department will communicate concerns or problems to the EPIC CTs who will follow up with the nurse educators directly.

The intervention related to providing nurse orientees direct access to EPIC experts will be sustained by the EPIC CTs of the flagship Midwest hospital who will staff weekly open learning labs in the hospital, in place of meeting individually in the nursing units. Learning labs will be staffed with one to two EPIC CTs at a time. EPIC CTs will divide the inpatient nursing units between them and will regularly review the progress of the nurse orientees who are hired into their assigned units. EPIC CTs will discuss their units' progress and/or concerns with the RN 200 modules at their regularly scheduled weekly meetings.

Data Analysis

The results of the qualitative post pilot survey were analyzed with the help of the data analytics department from the flagship Midwest hospital. Because the survey was in an electronic format, there was no need to manually enter or transcribe the data into a computer. The results of the survey were analyzed using independent sample t-tests and a statistical narrative was supplied.

Institutional Review Board

The Nursing Research Committee at the flagship Midwest has very stringent policies in place to ensure the protection of research participants' rights and privacy. In order to perform

research at this hospital, the doctoral student was required to write a research protocol outlining the research plan, complete a facility specific research application form, and provide evidence that she had successfully completed the four Collaborative Institutional Training Initiative (CITI) courses that are required by the local Institutional Review Board (IRB) (M. Lewis, personal communication, June 28, 2019). Once these documents were submitted and approved by the Nursing Research Committee, the project was forwarded to the Human Subject Protection Program and the site Research Administration group for review and approval (M. Lewis, personal communication, June 28, 2019). After this final approval at the hospital level, the project was then submitted and approved by the local IRB (M. Lewis, personal communication, June 28, 2019).

The research involved in this pilot study only involved the use of survey procedures. The survey sent after the pilot period, did not request information that could allow the participants to be directly or indirectly identified, did not place the participants at risk of criminal or civil liability, and could not be damaging to the participants in anyway, should their responses be disclosed (Office for Human Research Protections, 2019). Due to these protections, this research met exception status (see Appendix E) (Office of Human Research Protections, 2019).

Chapter III: Organizational Assessment and Cost Effectiveness Analysis Organization Assessment

The implementation of blended learning at this organization is providing an opportunity for the members of the informatics team to redefine their role in regard to EPIC training. This team is open to change and excited about the technological advances that are able to streamline EPIC education. EPIC education has traditionally taken place in the classroom, now there will be an interdisciplinary approach because nursing preceptors, educators, and EPIC CTs will be

working together to ensure nurse orientees are receiving the education needed to accurately document in the EMR.

Cost Factors

The cost factors associated with the implementation of this project included: (a) compensation for staff of the organization during weekly informatics meetings between the informatics coordinator, EPIC CTs, and the manager of the education department during the pilot period; (b) compensation for staff of the organization during project team meetings between the doctoral student and nursing educators; and (c) the cost associated with printing paper toolkits to add to the inpatient nurse orientation binders (see Appendix D). There was no charge for the statistician services provided by the organization to assist with data analysis. The total cost of these resources was estimated to be \$2671.00. The education department and informatics staff had access to the resources and materials needed to develop the paper toolkit for the inpatient nurse orientation binders, update the education in the EPIC in-seat course, and create the SelectSurvey for nursing preceptors. The work of this project was deemed beneficial to the organization; therefore, all meetings were scheduled during regular working hours and did not require outside funding.

Chapter IV: Results

Analysis of Implementation Process

Implementation of the project interventions began in August of 2019 and concluded in February of 2020 (see Appendix G). Project interventions initially were implemented ahead of the planned goal dates, but modifications were necessary from the initial implementation plan. The four nursing units chosen to receive additional EPIC CT support had a low number of new nurses hired in during the planned pilot period between September and November of 2019. Due

to this, the implementation period was extended through January of 2020 and the post pilot survey was delayed until February of 2020.

Updating the RN 200 course was not originally a planned project intervention. However, as the doctoral student reviewed the course to understand the current state content, it was identified that several aspects of the course could be altered to improve the experience of nurse orientees.

Given that most interactions and education occurred between the doctoral student and the nursing educators and orientees, the doctoral student decided to include nursing educators and orientees in the post pilot survey that was originally intended for only the nursing preceptors.

The local IRB was contacted in October of 2019 to request this modification to the survey recipients. Approval of this change was granted without affecting the previous determination that the survey was not considered human subjects research.

The process of meeting one on one in the nursing unit with orientees was not productive. Nurse orientees found it difficult to step away from patient care in the nursing unit and were not in the right mindset for learning. The goal to meet with nurse orientees three times throughout their orientation was modified to meeting once in person followed by subsequent communications through emails and phone conversations.

An unplanned intervention that was added after the project implementation began, was the initiation of open learning labs staffed by EPIC CTs. The learning labs opened on Thursday January 9th and were scheduled weekly from 0700 to 1500. It was decided by the doctoral student that it may be more beneficial to set up open labs where nurses and other staff members could come on a walk in basis when they needed assistance with EPIC or their Canvas courses.

Educators were encouraged to send orientees to the labs if they needed a quiet space to work on their RN 200 course or if they had any EPIC questions or concerns.

The most important lesson learned during the project implementation was that nurse orientees and preceptors are uncomfortable with stepping away from patient care, even for brief periods, during their in-unit orientation period. At least at this time, in unit EPIC training while concurrently assigned to a team of patients does not seem feasible in this population.

Analysis of Project Outcome Data

Survey analysis. The post pilot survey was created using SelectSurvey and was administered to participants through an online link via their organizational email on Monday February 3, 2020. The survey was sent to ninety-two participants who were identified as either being a nurse orientee during the pilot period, a preceptor during the pilot period, or an educator of a unit where an orientee was hired. The survey closed on Friday February 14, 2020. One reminder email was sent on February 13, 2020. Of the ninety-two surveys sent, eleven completed surveys were returned, which was a twelve percent response rate.

Of the eleven respondents, eight identified themselves as educators, two as preceptors, and one as a nurse orientee. There were two respondents from the four med/surg units chosen to receive additional EPIC CT support and nine respondents from the remaining inpatient nursing units that did not receive additional EPIC CT support. Both of the respondents from the four med/surg units identified themselves as nursing educators.

Independent samples t-tests were utilized to analyze whether the average Likert-scale agreement score was statistically significantly different between respondents from units receiving additional EPIC CT support and respondents from units not receiving additional EPIC

CT support. Reliability analysis was performed (alpha = 0.84) on the ten survey questions and an overall score of agreement was tested with an independent samples t -test (see Appendix H). Only question number six of the survey, *I am able to have my nurse orientees incorporate* pertinent EPIC Clindoc RN 200 modules into patient care during scheduled working hours, was statistically significant (p = 0.007). Participants from units that did not receive the additional EPIC CT support significantly agreed more that they were able to have their nurse orientees incorporate the modules into patient care, with an average score of 1.7 versus an average score of zero from the units that did receive additional EPIC CT support.

Thirty-six percent of the survey respondents responded with agree slightly or agree strongly that they understood the rationale for the blended learning model and that they were able to help their nurse orientees incorporate pertinent RN 200 modules into patient care.

Twenty-seven percent of the survey respondents responded with agree slightly or agree strongly that they felt that nurse orientees would retain their EPIC education better than the in-seat training method.

Fifty percent of respondents from the four med/surg units that received additional EPIC CT support, responded with agree slightly or agree strongly that they received the right amount of support during this transition, were adequately prepared for their new responsibilities regarding EMR training, and had a way to voice their feedback.

Qualitative feedback. A recurrent theme identified through discussions with the nursing educators and orientees was a perception that there was no time to incorporate the RN 200 modules into orientation while assigned a team of patients. Nurse orientees repeatedly stated that there was no time during their shift to break away to review the online modules.

Multiple nurse educators required their nurse orientees to complete all of the RN 200 modules before being assigned to a patient team. These nurse educators feared that it would be difficult to track their orientees progress and completion of the RN 200 modules if they did not set a deadline early in the orientation period. Educators stated that they preferred to have the RN 200 modules completed by their orientees before they began performing direct patient cares so that the orientees were more prepared for documenting in the EMR.

Other educators were more accepting of the goal to incorporate the RN 200 modules into patient care but were skeptical of its feasibility. Some of the nurse orientees decided to work on the RN 200 modules at home, against the advice of their leadership, to avoid missing out on clinical experiences during their orientation.

One orientee provided feedback that after she completed the RN 200 modules, certain EPIC workflows that she had already completed made more sense to her and that the RN 200 modules helped reinforce education she received from her preceptors. Orientees did not experience technical difficulty with the RN 200 course and did not report difficulty with the course content or final exam of the course.

Chapter V: Discussion

Findings

The following objectives of the project were carried out as planned:

 Create a communication channel between EPIC CTs and the nursing educators and preceptors to allow them to ask questions and provide feedback regarding the online EPIC modules.

- Create a standard feedback loop with expected timelines for those responsible to answer submitted questions/suggestions or correct errors recognized/modify processes.
- 3) Create a schedule for the nursing preceptors to follow that will help them evaluate their orientees progress of the online modules at regular intervals over the orientation period so that the EPIC module assignments are dispersed throughout the orientation and not completed all in the beginning or end of orientation.
- 4) Create a tool for the EPIC CTs to allow them to track nurse orientees and their progress regarding their EPIC modules throughout their orientation period.

However, given the low response rate of the post pilot survey, the results were not able to demonstrate that the project interventions were able to provide the support necessary to empower nurse educators, preceptors, and orientees with their new responsibilities surrounding EPIC education. It is important to note that when orientees did attempt to work on the RN 200 modules, whether it be all in one day at the direction of their educator, throughout orientation, or in the open learning labs, they were able to complete the modules and pass the course without difficulty.

The most significant difficulty faced during the project implementation was in arranging meetings with the nurse orientees. Nurse orientees seldom responded to email communications, making it difficult to plan meetings that worked with their schedules. Most nurse orientees worked third shift throughout a portion of their orientation, this added more complexity to planning meetings.

Updating the RN 200 course and initiating the open learning labs were the most successful interventions of the project. Without the changes that were made to the RN 200

course, the nurse orientees would likely have had more difficulty passing the course successfully.

The open learning labs offer nurses ongoing access to EPIC content experts in a centralized location within their facility.

Limitations or Deviations

One limitation of this project was the small sample size. The goal was to include fifty nurse orientees, however there were only five nurse orientees hired within the four med/surg units receiving additional CT support during the pilot period that met the inclusion criteria. Leadership from the pilot units reported that they had vacant nursing positions but were unable to fill their open positions during the pilot period.

Another limitation was the low response rate from the post pilot survey, only twelve percent of participants responded to the survey. Most respondents were nurse educators who have scheduled office hours versus the nurse preceptors and orientees who are always assigned to direct patient care. Although it was an effective way to analyze and export the survey results, the online survey may not have yielded the same number of responses that a paper survey distributed directly to participants could have.

A deviation from the project plan was the initiation of the open learning labs staffed by EPIC CTs. The organizations plan was to have nurse orientees complete the RN 200 modules throughout orientation when the orientee was performing patient care directly related to the specific modules. The feedback received throughout the pilot demonstrated that this plan was not followed. Nurse orientees were resistant to stepping away from patient care to discuss their EPIC training and reported that they did not have time to complete the RN 200 modules during their normal working hours while assigned patients. Hosting open learning labs was an intervention used to provide EPIC support without asking the orientees to schedule a time to step away from

their patients on the nursing unit. This intervention did not begin until January of 2020, less than a month before the pilot ended. If the open learning labs were initiated from the beginning of the pilot, it may have increased the number of respondents who felt that they received the right amount of support during this transition.

Implications

Practice. The support interventions of this project will be sustained in the flagship Midwest hospital and shared with other hospitals in the organization. The open learning labs have been positively received by nursing educators as an alternative solution for EPIC CT support. The labs have been successful enough that the EPIC CTs have discussed the possibility of offering the lab on a second day of the week during the busier months of the year when there is an influx of new nurses hired.

In the future, it may be beneficial for EPIC CTs to work with the inpatient educators to develop a structured guideline for the nurse orientees to follow, directing which RN 200 modules to complete during each week of orientation. Implementing the RN 200 modules throughout orientation would align more with the organizational goals compared to completing the entire course in one day.

As the EPIC training for other disciplines is moving online at this organization, the open learning labs can be utilized to support all disciplines and EPIC applications. Smaller hospitals within the organization that do not have a dedicated informatics team with EPIC CTs, would not be able to implement the open learning lab intervention. The updates to the RN 200 course and the nurse orientee toolkit were made available to all hospitals within the organization.

Future research. The topic of online EPIC training offers several research opportunities in the future. One area of interest is the difference between learners reported comprehension and

retainment of online EPIC education compared to learners who received EPIC education in a traditional classroom setting. Another topic of research could focus on the actual accuracy of nursing documentation in the EMR after online EPIC training compared to the accuracy of nursing documentation after EPIC in-seat training.

Results of the project will be shared with flagship Midwest hospital's education department, the clinical documentation instructional designer responsible for creating the curriculum for nursing staff, and the organizations education team.

Nursing. The education and experiences provided during the orientation period lay the groundwork for the future success of nurses. Having adequate education, resources, and support to perform one's job functions is essential to promote structural empowerment and increase job satisfaction (Larkin et al., 2008). As more education in healthcare is being disseminated via online platforms, it is important for education leads to also provide access to content experts and develop communication channels to allow nurses and other staff members the ability to voice their feedback.

Health policy. The flagship Midwest hospital has a policy in place titled, *Competencies*, that details how competencies are validated and documented (OSF Saint Francis, 2020). This policy defines competencies as "the identified essential knowledge and skills that are considered necessary to the performance in a specific role" (OSF Saint Francis, 2020). According to this policy, each new employee is required to complete their department specific orientation checklist by the end of a ninety day probationary period. The completed orientation checklist and other orientation documents are placed in the employee's regulatory file (OSF Saint Francis, 2020). Educators, preceptors, and managers are responsible for validating the competence of their employees' core job functions. Documentation of participation in the in seat EPIC class and

successful completion of the RN 200 course is considered a mandatory education requirement used to validate an inpatient nurse's core job function as it relates to EMR documentation (OSF Saint Francis, 2020).

The implementation of blended learning for EPIC education for nurses brings challenges to nurse educators and other department leaders. Implementing EPIC education throughout orientation via the online RN 200 modules requires considerably more time to track and validate than the previous method of only in seat education. In order to follow this policy, educators and preceptors will need continued assistance from EPIC CTs to track and validate that nurses are completing the RN 200 course successfully within their ninety day probationary period.

Chapter VI: Conclusion

Value of the Project

The results elicited from this project provide this organizations leadership with feedback from nurse orientees and the educators responsible for overseeing nursing orientation. The transition to a blended learning model for EPIC training was a significant change in this organization. This project demonstrated that the organizational goal in regard to how the RN 200 modules were to be implemented in the nursing unit was not executed as intended. This information is of value because it can help education leaders develop a more feasible plan for EPIC education dissemination to ensure that the education policy reflects the actual practice occurring in the inpatient nursing units. Throughout this pilot project, there were no technical or content issues with the RN 200 course reported. This speaks to the value of the work the doctoral student placed on updating the course to make it easier to navigate and complete.

DNP Essentials

This project incorporated many of the eight Doctorate of Nursing Practice (DNP)

Essentials, specifically Essentials II, III, IV, and VI (American Association of Colleges of Nursing, 2016). Essential II, Organizational and Systems Leadership for Quality Improvement and Systems Thinking, was addressed by the doctoral student during this pilot project as evidenced by the creation of a communication channel for nursing staff. Advanced communication skills were necessary to support processes that assisted nursing staff during a time of organizational change regarding EPIC education delivery (American Association of Colleges of Nursing, 2016).

The principles of Essential III, Clinical Scholarship and Analytical Methods for Evidence-Based Practice, were utilized to appraise the existing literature on the topics of online and blended learning and structural empowerment in healthcare in order to "apply relevant findings to develop practice guidelines and improve practice and the practice environment" (American Association of Colleges of Nursing, 2016, p.12). Surveying nursing educators, preceptors, and orientees, required that the doctorate student write a research protocol and request approval through the local Institutional Review Board (IRB). This process aligns with Essential III by allowing the doctoral student to use the results of the post pilot survey to analyze data from the practice environment (American Association of Colleges of Nursing, 2016, p.12).

The doctoral student demonstrated strength in Essential IV, *Information*Systems/Technology and Patient Care Technology for the Improvement and Transformation of

Health Care, while assisting in the development of a web-based learning platform for new nurses
to improve patient care (American Association of Colleges of Nursing, 2016). Information
systems/technology was also utilized by the doctoral student to design an online survey to

evaluate the success of the project interventions (American Association of Colleges of Nursing, 2016).

The doctoral student organized and led an interprofessional team throughout this pilot project, this aligns with Essential VI, *Interprofessional Collaboration for Improving Patient and Population Health Outcomes* (American Association of Colleges of Nursing, 2016). Presenting education to nurses at monthly meetings improved the doctoral student's communication and leadership skills while working with the clinical education program specialist, the clinical documentation instructional designer, and the manager of the education department improved the doctoral student's collaborative skills and ability to function effectively in an interdisciplinary team (American Association of Colleges of Nursing, 2016).

Plan for Dissemination

The findings from this project will be presented by the doctoral student to the education department of the flagship Midwest hospital where the pilot took place, the organization wide education group, and to the Director of Professional Development from the flagship Midwest hospital.

Attainment of Personal and Professional Goals

The doctoral student's ultimate goal with this project was to help support nursing staff during the implementation of online learning for EPIC training. I do feel that I was able to identify and implement necessary changes to the RN 200 course to help improve the success of this learning modality and was able to gather valuable feedback from frontline staff impacted by this change in education delivery. Organizing and leading an interprofessional team to carry out a project that I designed was a professional goal that has been attained thanks to this project.

Obtaining my CITI certification, writing a research protocol, and being the principal investigator on a project were additional personal goals that this project has helped me achieve.

References

- American Association of Colleges of Nursing. (2006). The essentials of doctoral education for advanced nursing practice. Washington, D.C.: AACN
- Cziraki, K., & Laschinger, H.K. (2015). Leader empowering behaviours and work engagement:

 The mediating role of structural empowerment. *Nursing Leadership*, 28 (3), 10-22.
- Duffield, C., Baldwin, R., Roche, M., & Wise, S. (2014). Job enrichment: Creating meaningful career development opportunities for nurses. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 22 (6) 697-706.
- Eriksson, E., & Engstrom, M. (2018). Internationally educated nurses' descriptions of their access to structural empowerment while working in another country's health care context.

 *Journal of Nursing Management; 26 (7), 866-873.
- García, S. R., Fernández, C. J., & Martínez, Z. F. (2016). Work engagement in nursing: An integrative review of the literature. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 24(2), E101–E111. https://doi-org.ezproxy.bradley.edu/10.1111/jonm.12312
- Hayes, B., Douglas, C., & Bonner, A. (2014). Predicting emotional exhaustion among haemodialysis nurses: A structural equation model using Kanter's structural empowerment theory. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70 (12), 2897-2909.
- Karvinen, K. H., Balneaves, L. G., Courneya, K. S., Perry, B., Truant, T., & Vallance, J. (2017).
 Evaluation of online learning modules for improving physical activity counseling skills,
 practices, and knowledge of oncology nurses. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 44(6), 729–735.
 https://doi-org.ezproxy.bradley.edu/10.1188/17.ONF.729-738

- Larkin, M., Cierpial, C., Stack, J., Morrison, V., & Griffith, C. (2008) Empowerment theory in action: The wisdom of collaborative governance. *OJIN: The Online Journal of Issues in Nursing. 13*(2). Retrieved from http://ojin.nursingworld.org/MainMenuCategories/ANAMarketplace/ANAPeriodicals/OJIN/TableofContents/vol132008/No2May08/ArticlePreviousTopic/EmpowermentTheory. html
- Luckie, K., Saini, B., Galstaun, V., Kritikos, V., Collins, J. C., & Moles, R. J. (2018). The effectiveness of an online training programme to prepare teachers to provide asthma first aid. *Journal of Pediatrics & Child Health*, *54*(12), 1348–1352. https://doi-org.ezproxy.bradley.edu/10.1111/jpc.14080
- Maloney, S., Nicklen, P., Rivers, G., Foo, J., Ooi, Y., Reeves, S., Walsh, K., & Ilic, D. (2015). A cost-effectiveness analysis of blended delivery of evidence-based medicine to medical students. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *17*(7). https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.4346
- McCall, M., Spencer, E., Owen, H., Roberts, N., & Heneghan, C. (2018). Characteristics and efficacy of digital health education: An overview of systematic reviews. *Health Education Journal*, 77(5), 497–514. https://doi-org.ezproxy.bradley.edu/10.1177/0017896918762013
- McCutcheon, K., Lohan, M., Traynor, M., & Martin, D. (2015). A systematic review evaluating the impact of online or blended learning vs. face-to-face learning of clinical skills in undergraduate nurse education. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 71(2), 255–270. https://doi-org.ezproxy.bradley.edu/10.1111/jan.12509
- Meredith, P., Yeates, H., Greaves, A., Taylor, M., Slattery, M., Charters, M., & Hill, M. (2018).

 Preparing mental health professionals for new directions in mental health practice:

- Evaluating the sensory approaches e-learning training package. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 27(1), 106–115. https://doiorg.ezproxy.bradley.edu/10.1111/inm.12299
- Mishra, A., Rani, S., & Bhardwaj, U. D. (2017). Effectiveness of e-learning module on first aid:

 A study on student nurses. *International Journal of Nursing Education*, *9*(3), 6–10.

 https://doi-org.ezproxy.bradley.edu/10.5958/0974-9357.2017.00060.5
- Office for Human Research Protections. (2019). *Human Subject Regulations Decision Charts*.

 Retrieved from https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/decision-charts/index.html#c2
- OSF Healthcare. (2019). *Ministry facts and profile*. Retrieved from https://one.osfhealthcare.org/sites/OneOSF/AboutUs/Pages/MinistryFacts.aspx
- OSF Healthcare. (2019). *Ministry strategy*. Retrieved from https://one.osfhealthcare.org/sites/OneOSF/AboutUs/Pages/Ministry-Strategy.aspx
- OSF Saint Francis. (2020). *Competencies*. Retrieved from https://osf-saintfrancis.policystat.com/policy/7340063/latest/
- Reis, S., Sagi, D., Eisenberg, O., Kuchnir, Y., Azuri, J., Shalev, V., & Ziv, A. (2013). The impact of residents' training in Electronic Medical Record (EMR) use on their competence:

 Report of a pragmatic trial. *Patient Education & Counseling*, 93(3), 515–521. https://doi-org.ezproxy.bradley.edu/10.1016/j.pec.2013.08.007
- Soffer, T., & Nachmias, R. (2018). Effectiveness of learning in online academic courses compared with face-to-face courses in higher education. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 34(5), 534–543. https://doi-org.ezproxy.bradley.edu/10.1111/jcal.12258

- Steward, D. J., Mullinix, C., & Qiang Wu. (2018). Written versus simulation-based evaluation methods to assess competency and confidence in the use of electronic medical records.

 **Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing, 49(6), 262–268. https://doi-org.ezproxy.bradley.edu/10.3928/00220124-20180517-06
- Stockwell, B.R., Stockwell, M.S., Cennamo, M., & Jiang, E. (2015). Blended learning improves science education. *Commentary*, 162(5), 933-936. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.08.009
- Telford, M., & Senior, E. (2017). Healthcare students' experiences when integrating e-learning and flipped classroom instructional approaches. *British Journal of Nursing*, 26(11), 617–622. https://doi-org.ezproxy.bradley.edu/10.12968/bjon.2017.26.11.617
- Thuss, M., Babenko-Mould, Y., Andrusyszyn, M., & Laschinger, H.K. (2016). Nursing clinical instructor experiences of empowerment in Rwanda: Applying Kanter's and Spreitzer's theories. *International Journal of Nursing Education Scholarship*, 13 (1), 117-125.
- Underwood, C.M., & Hayne, A.N. (2017). System-level shared governance structures and processes in healthcare systems with magnet(R)-designated hospitals: A descriptive study. *The Journal of nursing administration*, 47 (7-8), 396-398.
- Wing, T., Regan, S., & Laschinger, H.K. (2015). The influence of empowerment and incivility on the mental health of new graduate nurses. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 23 (5), 632-643.
- Wolf, A. B. (2018). The Impact of Web-Based Video Lectures on Learning in Nursing

 Education: An Integrative Review. *Nursing Education Perspectives (Wolters Kluwer Health)*, 39(6), E16–E20. https://doi-org.ezproxy.bradley.edu/10.1097/01.NEP.0000000000000389

Appendices

Appendix A

Survey Questions

- I received the right amount of training on the EPIC Clindoc RN 200 modules for nurse orientees. (0) Disagree Strongly (1) Disagree Slightly (2) Neutral (3) Agree Slightly (4)
 Agree Strongly
- 2. I was adequately prepared for my additional preceptor/educator responsibilities regarding incorporating EPIC Clindoc RN 200 modules into patient care throughout nursing orientation. (0) Disagree Strongly (1) Disagree Slightly (2) Neutral (3) Agree Slightly (4) Agree Strongly
- 3. I have a good understanding of the rationale for transitioning to a blended learning model for EPIC training of nurse orientees. (0) Disagree Strongly (1) Disagree Slightly (2)

 Neutral (3) Agree Slightly (4) Agree Strongly
- 4. I feel a blended learning model for EPIC training will help nurse orientees retain their EPIC education. (0) Disagree Strongly (1) Disagree Slightly (2) Neutral (3) Agree Slightly (4) Agree Strongly
- 5. I am able to have my nurse orientees incorporate pertinent EPIC Clindoc RN 200 modules into patient care during scheduled working hours. (0) Disagree Strongly (1) Disagree Slightly (2) Neutral (3) Agree Slightly (4) Agree Strongly
- 6. I received the right amount of support while transitioning to a blended learning model for EPIC training of nurse orientees. (0) Disagree Strongly (1) Disagree Slightly (2) Neutral (3) Agree Slightly (4) Agree Strongly

- I had a way to voice my concerns and provide feedback regarding the EPIC Clindoc RN
 200 modules. (0) Disagree Strongly (1) Disagree Slightly (2) Neutral (3) Agree Slightly
 (4) Agree Strongly
- 8. I feel my concerns and feedback regarding the EPIC Clindoc RN 200 modules were valued and responded to in an appropriate timeframe. (0) Disagree Strongly (1) Disagree Slightly (2) Neutral (3) Agree Slightly (4) Agree Strongly
- I am satisfied with my preceptor/educator responsibilities regarding incorporating pertinent EPIC Clindoc RN 200 modules throughout orientation. (0) Disagree Strongly
 Disagree Slightly (2) Neutral (3) Agree Slightly (4) Agree Strongly
- 10. I feel confident in my ability as a preceptor/educator to assist nurse orientees with completing their EPIC Clindoc RN modules throughout their orientation. (0) Disagree Strongly (1) Disagree Slightly (2) Neutral (3) Agree Slightly (4) Agree Strongly

Appendix B

EPIC CT Tracking Tool

| NEO | MP | Unit | Educator | EPIC | Primary | Meeting | Progress/Concerns | |
|------|------|------|----------|------|-----------|---------|-------------------|--|
| Date | Name | | | CT | Preceptor | Date | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |

Appendix C

Nurse Orientee Toolkit

EPIC CLINDOC RN 200

ACCESSING CANVAS ECOURSE

Accessing Canvas eCourse

Logging In

CANVAS: https://osf.instructure.com

User name: *** Login

Password: *** + Employee ID# (***23456)

Canvas Help Desk

https://osf.instructure.com/login/canvas

Always use Google Chrome web browser when accessing Canvas courses.

COURSE

EPIC CLINDOC RN 200

COURSE OBJECTIVES

Upon completion of the course learners will be able to document the following activities:

- Admitting a Patient
- MyChart Bedside Tablet
- Care Everywhere
- Care Plans
- Patient Education
- Managing Orders and Order Sets
- Charge Capture
- Blood Administration
- Restraints
- Unit Manger
- Medication Administration Record
- Transfer a Patient
- Discharge a Patient

COURSE EXPECTATIONS

- RN will complete EPIC Clindoc RN 200 modules online during scheduled working hours.
- RN will identify and seek out learning opportunities related to clinical documentation.
- RN will communicate learning needs and feedback with preceptor and educator/manager during weekly meetings.

COURSE STRUCTURE

This is an asynchronous course. Students learn the same material at different times and locations. RN will have access to course for 90 days. Preceptor will help guide RN to incorporate module content into patient care.

- Modules will be completed throughout orientation when the learning activity is pertinent to patient care being performed.
- Modules will be repeated if preceptor determines documentation needs improvement.

4 MODULE **Preceptor Approval Admitting a Patient MyChart Bedside Care Plans Patient Education Managing Orders and Order Sets Medication Administration Record** Transfer A Patient **Unit Manager Charge Capture Override Pulls Blood Administration** Restraints **Discharging a Patient**

Use the table below to track your progress with the course throughout your orientation.

COURSE COMPLETION

RN must complete the following activities before the conclusion of unit based orientation:

- All module learning activities
- Score 85% or higher on post-test
 - o 3 attempts to earn 85% or higher
 - o If unsuccessful after 2nd attempt, facility Credentialed Trainer must remediate.

COURSE EXPECTATIONS

- RN will complete EPIC Clindoc RN 200 modules online during scheduled working hours.
- RN will identify and seek out learning opportunities related to clinical documentation.
- RN will communicate learning needs and feedback with preceptor and educator/manager during weekly meetings.

ADDITIONAL RESOURCES

- Learning Home Dashboard in EPIC
- Tip Sheet Portal https://one.osfhealthcare.org/sites/IOL/Pages/TS.asp
- Facility Credentialed Trainer

Appendix D

Budget Table

| Expenditure | Cost | | |
|--|---|--|--|
| Weekly Informatics Meeting for 7 EPIC CTs, | | | |
| Informatics Coordinator, & Manager of | \$2304.00 | | |
| education department x 8 weeks | | | |
| Project Team Meetings for doctoral student & | ф2 57 00 | | |
| 3 nursing educators x 3 meetings | \$357.00 | | |
| Statistician Services | No charge for employees of the organization | | |
| Printing of Paper Toolkits x 100 orientees | \$10.00 | | |
| Total Cost | \$2671.00 | | |

Appendix E

IRB Approval Letter



Peoria Institutional Review Board FWA 00005172 One Illini Drive

Peoria, Illinois 61605 IRB #00000688

IRB #00000689

DATE: July 29, 2019

TO: Jennifer Van Autreve, BSN

FROM: University of Illinois College of Medicine at Peoria IRB ${\bf 1}$

STUDY TITLE: 1473642-1] Developing a Structured Implementation Plan: Transitioning to a Blended

Learning Model for Electronic Health Record Education

IRB REFERENCE #: SUBMISSION TYPE: New Project

ACTION: DECISION DATE: DETERMINATION OF NOT HUMAN SUBJECTS RESEARCH July 29, 2019

Thank you for your submission of New Project materials for this research study. University of Illinois College of Medicine at Peoria IRB 1 has determined this project does not meet the definition of human subjects research under the purview of the IRB according to federal regulations.

We will put a copy of this correspondence on file in our office.

If you have any questions, please contact at at a contact or at a contact or a contact. Please include your study title and reference number in all correspondence with this office.

Appendix F

Projected Timeline of Project Plan

- July 12, 2019 Develop paper toolkits for nurse orientation binder.
- July 22_{nd}, 2019 Meet with EPIC CTs to discuss the support meetings with nurse orientees and review EPIC CT Tracking Tool for organizing nurse orientees progress with the RN 200 modules.
- July 24, 2019 Present project plan to Nursing Research Committee.
- August 21, 2019 Anticipated approval from Nursing Research Committee.
- August 26, 2019 IRB application submission.
- September 9, 2019 Anticipated IRB approval.
- September 10, 2019 Speak at Nurse Educator monthly meeting to explain the addition of the RN 200 paper toolkit to the nurse orientation binder.
- September 10, 2019 Distribution of toolkit to educators.
- September 10, 2019 Discussion of RN 200 Module added to monthly nurse educator and informatics meetings.
- September 13, 2019 Update lesson plan for in-seat inpatient RN EPIC class with instructional designer.
- September 13, 2019 Meet with nurse educators of med/surg pilot units to educate them about the EPIC CT support intervention.
- September 16, 2019 November 15, 2019 EPIC CT support pilot on med/surg units.
- October 1, 2019 Create SelectSurvey for nursing preceptors.

• November 18, 2019 – SelectSurvey Preceptor Survey sent electronically to nurse preceptors of inpatient nursing units.

Appendix G

Implementation Timeline

Project Timeline

Worked with Inpatient Clinical Documentation Instruction Designer & Clinical Education Program Specialist to Update Canvas 200 Course & create paper toolkit. Met with Educators of pilot units to discuss pilot objectives and organize meetings with nurse orientees.

Presented information about Canvas RN 200 Course at Clinical Educator Meeting, distributed paper toolkit for tracking progress through course.

Communicated and offered EPIC and Canvas support to nurse orientees of pilot nursing units.

Select Survey sent to nurse educators, preceptors, and orientees.

August 2019

August 28, 2015

August 30, 201

September 2019-Januar 2020

February 2020

Appendix H

Survey Analysis

| Question | Key Units Average | Other Units Average | Difference | p-value |
|----------------|-------------------|---------------------|------------|---------|
| Train Amount | 1.5 | 2.0 | -0.5 | 0.796 |
| Responsibility | 2.0 | 1.5 | 0.5 | 0.845 |
| Transition | 2.5 | 1.9 | 0.6 | 0.754 |
| Blended | 1.0 | 1.3 | -0.3 | 0.397 |
| Incorporate | 0.0 | 1.7 | -1.7 | 0.007 |
| Support | 3.0 | 1.8 | 1.2 | 0.417 |
| Voice | 2.5 | 1.8 | 0.7 | 0.715 |
| Concerns | 3.0 | 1.5 | 1.5 | 0.352 |
| Satisfied | 1.0 | 1.5 | -0.5 | 0.171 |
| Confident | 2.0 | 2.5 | -0.5 | 0.845 |
| Overall Score | 1.9 | 1.8 | 0.1 | 0.940 |